# **University of Toronto Archives**



# Fritz Moritz Heichelheim Fonds

Garron Wells April, 2005

## B2004-0018

## F. M. Heichelheim fonds

Ca 1922-1968 3.56 m

# Access: Open Textual; graphic

# **Table of Contents**

Biographical Note	3
Scope and content note	5
Series 1 Correspondence	6
Series 2 Teaching and Research	6
Series 3 Manuscripts: Book review and articles	7
Series 4 Manuscripts: Books	7
Series 5 Coins	8
Series 6 Papyrus	8
Appendix 1: Series 1 Correspondence	9
Appendix 2 Series 3 Manuscripts: Articles and Reviews	10
Appendix 3 Series 6 Papyrus	12
Appendix 4 F.M. Heichelheim Bibliography	13

B2004-0018 F. M. Heichelheim fonds

Access: Open Textual; graphic 3.56 m

## Biographical Note

Fritz Moritz Heichelheim was born on May 6<sup>th</sup>, 1901 in Giessen (Hesse) Germany, the son of a banker, Albert Heichelheim. Heichelheim married Gerta Oppenheimer in 1934 and together they had one son named Peter, who later became a doctor. Heichelheim was educated at the Landgraf Ludwig Gymnasium in Giessen and Giessen University. In 1923 he passed the "Oberlehrarexamen" in Latin, Greek, History and Arabic (first class). In 1925 he obtained his PhD in Philosophy. His thesis ," Die Auswartige Bevolkerung im Ptolemaerreich", was published in 1925. He also studied Classics, Ancient history and Oriental languages at Munich and Berlin.

After receiving his doctorate, Heichelheim taught at Gymnasia in Hesse, and was also appointed "Privatdozent fur Alte Geschichte" at the University of Giessen. In 1933, after teaching at Hesse for ten years and at Giessen for four, he was dismissed as a non-Aryan and chose to leave Germany. For two and a half years, he received research grants from the Classical Faculty of Cambridge University, the Rockefeller Foundation and the Society for the Protection of Science and Learning. These grants allowed Heichelheim to complete "Wirteschaftsgeschichte des Altertums vom Palaolithikum bis zur Volkerwanderung der Germanen, Slawen und Araber", a 1200 page book published by A.W. Sijthoff of Leiden in 1938. In 1936 and in 1938 he received a grant from the Leon Bequest Committee at the University of London to do historical research. In 1938/39 he lectured on Select Papyri at Classical Faculty at Cambridge University. In 1941 he began the cataloguing of Greek coin collections housed at the Fitzwilliam Museum in Cambridge. Heichelheim began teaching at Nottingham University in 1942 and continued until 1948 when he accepted a position as lecturer at University College, University of Toronto in the Department of Classics. At the same time of his appointment with the University of Toronto, Heichelheim received an honorary professorship in Ancient economic history at Giessen, his old university. He was appointed assistant professor in 1953, Associate professor in 1958 and professor in 1962. In 1961, the University of Giessen bestowed upon him an honorary doctoral degree in agriculture. In 1963 he was a visiting professor at the Free University of Berlin and in 1966 he was elected a Fellow of the Royal Society of Canada.

Within the academic world, Prof. Heichelheim was known as an expert numismatist, papyrologist and an expert in the economic history of the ancient world, particularly the Greeks and Romans. He was a respected scholar who published some 600 items including books, articles, reviews and chapters to various survey histories in collaboration with other authors such as E. N. Adler, Elemer Balogh, and Cedric Yeo. Some of his more popular works include *Ancient Economic History*, published in two volumes in 1958 and 1964 and *History of the Roman People* with Cedric Yeo in 1962. He is credited with discovering the boom and bust economic cycle in the Roman and Greek empires. An accomplished linguist, Prof. Heichelheim was renowned for his facility in 20 languages. In the early 1950's he persuaded the University of Toronto to enter into a joint project with the University of Giessen to translate and publish the Geissen papyri and ostrakai. He acted as director of the staff committee on this project throughout the 1950s. He also developed several theories

B2004-0018

## F. M. Heichelheim fonds

Ca 1922-1968

Access: Open Textual; graphic 3.56 m

including that the modern alphabet was first developed from a musical scale, and that the human idea of living in a city will soon come to an end.

Professor Heichelheim died of a heart attack on Monday April 22, 1968 on the front campus of the University of Toronto.

Shelley Respondek Edited by Garron Wells April, 2005

#### B2004-0018

## F. M. Heichelheim fonds

Ca 1922-1968 3.56 m

Access: Open Textual; graphic

## Scope and content note

This fonds contains the personal papers of Prof. Fritz Moritz Heichelheim, mainly while professor of classics at the University of Toronto (1948-1968) and in academic positions at Universities in Britain such as Cambridge and Nottingham University.

The largest series (Series 1) contains correspondence spanning 46 years received from friends, family and colleagues living in North America as well as Europe, the Middle East and Africa. Correspondence is in mostly English and German depending on the language of the writer. Some of Prof. Heichelheim's outgoing replies will be found scrawled on the back of the incoming letter or as a separate documents. The completeness of this series documents Prof. Heichelheim's wide interest in classical studies, numismatics and papyri translation. Other series document some of his teaching and research activities, mainly at universities in England as well as his literary works on Roman and Greek history also in both English and German. No manuscripts for his major books such as his published thesis in the 1930's or his collaborative works such as *A history of the Roman people* (1962) with C. A. Yeo have been found.

His extensive work in numismatics however will be found in Series 5. This series contains the manuscript and photographs for his catalogue *Sylloge Nummorum Graecorum Vol. IV* of the General and Leake Collections at the Fitzwilliam Museum, Cambridge produced mainly during the late 1930's to the 1950s. Records in this series provide some documentation on the joint project of University of Toronto and Heichelheim's previous employer, the University of Giessen in Germany. This project directed by Prof. Heichelheim during the 1950s dealt with the translation and publication of the Giessen papyrus and ostraka (handwriting on pottery).

## Arrangement

This accession comprises all the records of the Fritz M. Heichelheim fonds. Originally received into the Library following his death in 1968, they were managed until 2004 by the Fisher Rare Book Library. In the fall of 2004, these papers were transferred to the University Archives. Since the records had been partially arranged and described by the Fisher, the original order of the records is not known. However, an attempt was made wherever possible to maintain the integrity of the records as they were received.

Access: Open

B2004-0018

## F. M. Heichelheim fonds

Ca 1922-1968

Access: Open Textual; graphic 3.56 m

## Series 1 Correspondence

Ca 1922 – 1968 textual; graphic 2.3 metres

Prof. Heichelheim maintained a regular correspondence with friends, family and colleagues both in Canada and around the world up to the year of his death. His brother's name was Arthur Heichelheim and he lived in London England. This series dominates this fonds and includes correspondence with classical scholars at Cambridge and Oxford and at the University of Giessen (Prof. Heichelheim's former employer), as well as at the University of Toronto. Such scholars include many of his co-authors such as E.N. Adler, Prof. F. L. Griffith, J. G. Tait, T. Frank, H. Michel, Prof. Elemer Balogh and Prof. Cedric Yeo. Correspondence is in English or German, depending on the nationality of the correspondent.

During World War II he continued to maintain ongoing correspondence with his brother and other family members, along with other scholars left in Europe and frequently describe living conditions, lost friends, the death camps and establishment of a Jewish state in Palestine. Correspondence with family and friends is often in German.

Photos removed to Box 001P

Arranged alphabetically by surname. See Appendix 1 for box listing

Box /001 to /016 (01)-(06) Box /001P (01) - (07)

## Series 2 Teaching and Research

1932-1955 textual .14 metres

This series consists of sample examinations from Cambridge University, University of London, Nottingham University and University of Toronto relating to Classical Studies, as well as lectures in both German and English on Roman History, delivered at the University of Giessen (early 1930's) and at English language universities in Britain (Cambridge, Nottingham) and Canada (University of Toronto). Also included is a file containing his curriculum vitae ca 1940, and a file with a draft bibliography in German.

Box/016 (07) - (030) to /017 (01) - (04)

B2004-0018

#### F. M. Heichelheim fonds

Ca 1922-1968

3.56 m

Access: Open Textual; graphic

## Series 3 Manuscripts: Book review and articles

1933-1954 textual; graphic .14 metres

This series contains drafts of some of Heichelheim's manuscripts for published and unpublished articles and books reviews. Among these works is a series of files of manuscripts and correspondence relating to articles submitted to the Oxford Classical Dictionary on Celtic gods, ancient economic history etc. 1938-1939. Photos removed to Box /001P.

See Appendix 2 for file list.

Box/017 (05) – (32), /018 (01) –(22) Box /001P(08)-(09)

## Series 4 Manuscripts: Books

ca1930s – 1962 textual .43 metres

This series contains files of correspondence, drafts of manuscripts, and notes of major literary works by Prof. Heichelheim. Some of these resulted in books and others may have been major submissions to survey histories. Unfortunately the manuscripts are undated and in many cases incomplete. The manuscript on the history of Syria and Palestine may have been prepared for T. Frank's *Economic survey of Ancient Rome*, IV, 2 (1938). Manuscripts for his major publications, such as *A history of the Roman people* with Cedric Yeo (1962) have not been traced.

Box 018 (23) – (28) Chronological Table of Hellenistic History [1962]

Box 018 (29) - (31) Economic and Social History of the Orient (in German)

Box 018 (32) – (38) & Box 019 (01) –(07) Celtic Gods (in German)

Box 019 (08) – (12) Geschichte Kleinasiens (A history of the Middle East) (in German)

Box 019 (13) - (14) & Box 020 (01) - (07) Geschichte Syrien und Palaestina [ A history of Syria and Palestine] (in German)

B2004-0018

## F. M. Heichelheim fonds

Ca 1922-1968

Access: Open Textual; graphic

3.56 m

Series 5 Coins

1933-1962

textual; graphic

0.34 metres

Prof. Heichelheim also became well known as a numismatist. After leaving Germany in 1933, he worked for the Fitzwilliam Museum, Cambridge cataloguing the General and Leake coin collections and preparing a series of catalogues for publication over the next two decades (ca 1937-1950). This series contains drafts of these catalogues (*Sylloge Nummorum Graecorum IV (Parts 1-5)*, photographs of the coins reproduced in the catalogues, correspondence, notes, as well as a report on the Department of Coins and Medals at the Fitzwilliam Museum (ca 1942). There are also two files on the Giessen coin collection and two files which may contain drafts of articles (in German). Photos will be found in Box /001P and /002P.

Box /021 (01) – (10) Box /022 (01) – (12) Box /001P(10) Box /002P

## Series 6 Papyrus

1936- 1952 textual .21 metres

This series documents Prof. Heichelheim's expertise as specialist in Latin and Greek translation. During academic year 1938-1939 he gave lectures on select papyri in the Classical Faculty at Cambridge University. Topics included *Pap. Eleph.1*, *Sentimental papyrus*, *An ordinance of the salt merchants*, *Teptynis papyrus*, and *Pap. Gis 40* [Papyrus of Giessen]. This series also contains manuscripts of translations of various papyri such as Rhosos papyrus, Rylands Papyrus, as well as manuscript on the Adler Papyrus, the Zu Pap. Michigan III, and the Zu Pap. Oslo Inv. 504.

See Appendix 3 for list

Box /022 (13) – (21) Box /023

# B2004-0018 F. M. Heichelheim fonds

Ca 1922-1968

Access: Open Textual; graphic 3.56 m

# Appendix 1: Series 1 Correspondence

/Box (file)	Title	Dates
/001	Abbott, Emma M. to Balaogh, E.	1922-1968
/002	Balthazard, I. To Bohlig, Fritz	
/003	Bohn, Hans to Cohen, D.	
/004	Cohen, Philip to Ewing, J. Franklin	
/005	Faculte des letters de Strasbourg to Graham, Walter and Anne	
/006	Granek, Sol D. to Hermann, Paul F.	
/007	Herter, Hans to Kansas, University of	
/008	Katz, Bernard to Hellmut-Ledy, Kurt & Enid	
/009	Levy-Bruhl, Henri to Mylonas, George E.	
/010	N. to Quatriglio, Giuseppe	
/011	Rabbinowitz, J. to Rudd, W. T. N. & Nancy	
/012	Rudenberg, Werner to Shrubs, Harold	
/013	Sigal, Philip to Syme, Ronald	
/014	Taeger, Friz to Warner, L.A.	
/015	Warrington, E.H. to Wyss, Bernhard	
/016	X to Zygman, Edmund	

# B2004-0018

## F. M. Heichelheim fonds

Access: Open Textual; graphic Ca 1922-1968
3.56 m

# Appendix 2 Series 3 Manuscripts: Articles and Reviews

/Box (file)	Title	Dates
/017	Articles (in English)	
(05)	"Some remarks about the Adler papyri" with V. Tscherikower	Ca 1939
(06)	"Jewish religious influence in the Adler papyri" with V.	Ca 1939
	Tscherikower	
(07)	"Highfield house"	[post 1948]
(08)	"Genii cucullati" (in German and English)	1935
(09)	"On Roman bronze statuettes of deitiesMuseum at Cambridge"	1937
(10)	Roman history – incomplete manuscript	n.d.
(11)	"The historical date for the final Memmon myth"	1957
(12)-(13)	Sappho Ostracon. Drafts of manuscript, notes	1948
(14)-(25)	Oxford Classical Dictionary – mss of articles on various	1938-1939
	Greek and Roman gods and topics, correspondence	
(26)	Athenian proposopography – correspondence, notes in preparation	1946-1947
	for possible publication by the Institute for Advanced Study,	
	Princeton	
(27)	"Modern Discoveries of Mind and Spade on Jewish History"	1954
(28)	Greek historiography	
(29)	Problems of present day Germany	n.d.
(30)	Tarn: Alexander, cynics and stoics. Mss fragment	n.d.
(31)	"Princeps" pp 1-50	n.d.
(32)	Fragments of unidentified manuscripts	
/018	Articles (in German)	
(01)	"Annales totius antiquitatis"	n.d.
(02)	"Axtuelle manusckripte iu arbeit I" Remarks on Ziegler	
(03)	"Auswartige Bevolkerung" Supplement	
(04)	"Bursian Griech Staatskunde Literatwerzeirtimis"	
(05)	"The cult of the nymphae in the Roman World"	
(06)	"Griechische staatskunde Von, 1900-1932" Introduction and	1934
, ,	literature	
(07)	Encyclopedia of the social sciences – manuscript of submission	1933
(08)	"Kappadokische Wirtschaltsur Kanden"	
(09)	"The influence of Ptolemaic administration in Kautilya's	Ca 1938
•	Arthacastra"	
(10)	"Preise in Talmud" (Prices in Talmud"	
(11)	Silk industry in the Byzantine Empire. Correspondence, manuscript drafts, notes. Photos removed to Box /001P (08)-(09)	1946

# B2004-0018

# F. M. Heichelheim fonds

Access: Open Textual; graphic Ca 1922-1968
3.56 m

/Box (file)	Title	Dates		
Appendix 2 Series 3 Manuscripts: Articles and Reviews (Cont'd)				
/018				
(12)	"Zum ouelleu problem des varusschlacht"			
(13)	"Die Legitimierungs programme Alexanders und seiner"			
(14)	"Der staat als leuker des wistschaft im luiperium Romauum"			
(15)	Notes and mss fragments (German)			
(16)	Review of Wilhelm Weber's Princeps I	n.d.		
(17)	Review of "Economische en sociale toestanden" by Engbert Jan	1933		
	Jonkers.			
(18)	Review of "Die Katellfunktionen" by Gunmar Mickwitz	1936		
(19)	Review of "A social and religious history of the Jews" by Salo	1937		
	Wittmayer Baron			
(20)	Review of "Roman Egypt to the reign of Diocletian" by A.C.	Ca1937		
	Johnson in An economic survey of Ancient Rome, ed. By T. Frank			
(21)	Review of "The Gogmagog giant Cambridge"	1939		
(22)	Review of "Histoire de l'education dans l'Antiquite" by Irenee	1948		
	Marrou Henry			

# B2004-0018 F. M. Heichelheim fonds

Access: Open Textual; graphic Ca 1922-1968
3.56 m

# Appendix 3 Series 6 Papyrus

/Box (file)	Title	Dates
/022 (13)-(18) (19) (20) (21)	Papyrus lectures Sentimental papyrus (lecture) Tebtynis papyrus Pap. Gis. 40 [Papyrus of Giessen]	[1938-1939]
/023 (01)-(02) (03) (04) (05)	Articles Adler papyrus. [The Adler Papyri (the Greek texts) Oxford, 1939] Greek papyri from Egypt Zu Pap. Michigan III Zu Pap. Oslo Inv. 504	Ca 1939 n.d. 1936
(23) (24) (25)-(26)	Translations Accounts and drafts of official reports connected with Temple administration Accounts and calendar notices Chirographic lease and other documents	
(27)- (28) (29) (30)	Giessen Ostraka- contributions with Gerta (his wife); notes Rendal Harris Rhosos papyrus	1926, 1935
(31) –(35)	Rylands papyrus (with C.H. Roberts and E.G. Turner. Catalogue of Greek and Latin Papyri in the John Rylands Library, Manchester, 4.  Manchester, 1952) Zum papyrus Argentorat	1952
(36) (37) (38) – (39)	Papyrus Regesten [?] (in German) Notebook and notes	n.d. n.d.

#### B2004-0018

#### F. M. Heichelheim fonds

Ca 1922-1968

Access: Open Textual; graphic 3.56 m

## Appendix 4 F.M. Heichelheim Bibliography

NB: This bibliography has been compiled from published lists in *The humanities in Canada* (2<sup>nd</sup> edition), and from Prof. Heichelheim's own curriculum vitae in B2004-0018/016 (07). It is not considered to be complete.

## Books

Die Auswartige Bevolkerung im Ptolemaerreich (Leipzig, 1925), viii + 109 pp.;

Wirtschaftliche Schwankungen der Zeit von Alexander bis Augustus (Jena, 1930), iv + 142 pp.;

Wirtschaftsgeschichte des Altertums vom Paldolithikum bis zur Volkerwanderung der Germanen, Slawen and Araber (2 vols., Leiden, 1939), xiv + 1239 pp.;

The Adler Papyri (the Greek texts) (editor with E. N. Adler and L.G. Tait) (Oxford, 1939), viii + 118 pp. + 16 plates;

Sylloge Nummorum Graecorum vol. IV, Fitzwilliam Museum: Leake and General Collections, Parts 1-5 (London, 1940-58), 72 plates;

Political Refugees in Ancient Greece, from the Period of the Tyrants to Alexander the Great (with Elemer Balogh) (Johannesburg, 1943), xvi + 134 pp.;

Byzantinische Seiden (Byzantine Silks, Soieries byzantines) (Basel, 1949, 1953), 25 pp. (in German, English, and French);

Greatness and Decline of Planned Economy in the Hellenistic World (trans.) Luigi Einaudi, (Berne, 1950), 18 pp.;

An Ancient Economic History from the Paleolithic Age to the Migration of the Germanic, Slavic, and Arabic Nations (trans. with J. Stephens) (Rev. and complete English ed., vol. I, Leiden, 1958), xii + 542 pp.;

Die Arabischen Papyri aus der Giessener Universitäts-Bibliothek (with A. Grohmann) (Giessen, 1960) xii + 94 pp. + 12 plates;

A History of the Roman People (with C. A. Yeo) (Englewood Cliffs, N.J., and London, 1962), xv + 480 pp.;

A Chronologic Table of Hellenistic History (Oslo, 1962), 20 pp.

#### Articles

"Ein Isokratesfragment". Hermes 50 (1925) 372

## B2004-0018

#### F. M. Heichelheim fonds

Ca 1922-1968 3.56 m

Access: Open Textual; graphic

"Zum Weiterleben der griechischen Zahlenbuchstaben. Zeitschr. D. Dt. Morgenl. Ges. N.F. 6 (1926) 78 f.

"Zum Verfassungsdiagramm von Kyrene," Klio, 21 (1927), 175-82

"Zwei historische Daten im ersten Jahrzehnt der Pentekontaetie." Zeitschrist fur Numismatik 40 (1930) 16 f.

"Die Ausbreitung der Miinzgeldwirtschaft and der Wirtschaftsstil im archaischen Griechenland," *Schmollers Iahrbueh*, 55 (1931), 229-54;

"Zum Traumglauben und Traumverstandnis in der Antike auf Grund urkundlicher Traumberichete aus der Ptolemaerzeit." (together with Storch) Zentralblatt for Psychotherapie 4 (1931) 559 f.

"Zu Pap. Bad. 37. Ein Beitrag zur romischen Geldgeschichte unter Trajan," Klio, 25 (1932), 124-31;

"Bericht uber ein Papyrusverzeichnis, nach Gauen, Archiven und Jahrhunderten geordnet". Chronique d'Egypte 7 (1932) 137 f.

"Strukturprobleme des Alexanderreiches und des Reiches der ersten Kalifen." Chronique d'Egypte 7 (1932) 137 f.

"Zum Ablauf der Wahrungskrise des romischen Imperiums im dritten Jahrhundert n. Chr.," Klio, 26 (1933), 96-113

"Zu Pap. Berol. 5883 & 5853". Aegyptus 13 (1933) 187 f

"Welthistorische Gesichtspunkte zu den vormittelalterliche Wirtschaftseppochen". Schmollers Iahrbueh 56 (1933) 994 f

"Griechische Staatskunde von 1902 -1932 (1934)," Bursians Jahresberichte fiber die Fortschritte der klassischen Altertumswissenschaft, Supplement 250 (1935), 145-289;

"New light on currency and inflation in Hellenistic-Roman Times from inscriptions and papyri." *Economic history* (1935) 1 f.

"Genii Cucullati" Archaeologia Aeliana 4 Ser. 12 (1935), 187 f.

"A clay lamp of the first century A.D. in the Museum of Archaeology and Ethnology, Cambridge." *Cambridge Antiquarian Society Proceedings* 35 (1935) 139 f.

## B2004-0018

## F. M. Heichelheim fonds

Ca 1922-1968 3.56 m

Access: Open Textual; graphic

"Nachtrag zur Prosopographie der auswartigen Bevolkerung im Ptolemaerreich I. Archiv fur Pap. 9 (1928) 47 f. and "Nachtrag II" Archiv fur Pap. 12 (1936) 54 f.

"On some unpublished Roman bronze statuettes in the Museum of Archaeology and Ethnology, Cambridge. *Cambridge Antiquarian Society Proceedings* 36 (1937) 52 f.

"Zu Pap. Michigan III 173" Hesperia V (1936) No. 15, 419 f; and No. 17 (1937) 61 f.

"Roman Syria," in T. Frank, Economic Survey of Ancient Rome, IV, 2 (1938), 181-258

"Wirtschaftshistorische Beitrage zur klassisch griechisch und hellenistischen Munzhortstatistik.". *Transactions of the International Numismatic Congress* 1936 (1938) 68 f.

"New light on the influence of Hellenistic financial administration in the Near East and India". *Economic history* (1938) 1 f.

"The Gogmagog Giant of Cambridge". Antiquity 13 (1939) 87 f.

"Ineditum Adlerianum, Ein epigraphischer Beitrag zur Sozialgeschichte des Ptolemäerreiches". Études dédiées à la mémoire d'AndréAndréades (1939) 3f.

"A Gaulish coin from St. Neots". Cambridge Antiquarian Society Proceedings 39 (1940) 97f

"Unpublished Latin inscriptions in Cambridge". Cambridge Antiquarian Society Proceedings 39 (1940) 97 f.

"Bacchus or a young satyr, not Mercury". L'Antiquité Classique (1940)

"Another literary papyrus in the Fitzwilliam Museum, Cambridge. *Amer. Journal of Philol.* 61 (1940) 209f.

"The text of the Constitutio Antoniniana and the Three other decrees of Emperor Caracalla in Papyr. Giss. 40. Cambridge University Reporter 70 (1939/1940) 503 f and Journal of Egyptian Archaeology 26 (1941) 10 f.

"The Alexandrian decreee of 175/174 BC. Journal of Egyptian Archaeology 26 (1941) 154 f.

"From Asia Minor to India". American Journal of Phil. 63 (1942) 91 f.

"On Medinet Habu Ostrakon 4038." Journal of Egyptian Archaeology 27 (1942) 161 f.

## B2004-0018

Access: Open

## F. M. Heichelheim fonds

Textual; graphic

Ca 1922-1968 3.56 m

"The Cairo Genizah," Jewish Outlook, July 1948, 6;

"Ugarit and Elijah," Jewish Outlook, Aug. 1948, 4

"The Cross Hill Excavation," Archaeological Newsletter, 12 (May 17, 1949), 94 f.;

"Modem Forgeries in the Mildenhall Treasure?" Symbolae Osloenses, 27 (1949), 141-2;

"Ezra's Palestine and Periclean Athens," Zeitschrift f fir Religions- and Geistesgeschichte, 3 (1951), 251-3;

"A Forgotten Consul Suffectus?" Epigraphica, 2 (1951), 61-3;

"The Earliest Musical Notations of Mankind and the Invention of our Alphabet," *Epigraphica, 3* (1952), 111-15; "Roman Coins from Iceland," *Antiquity, 26* (1952), 43-5;

Catalogue of Greek and Latin Papyri in the John Rylands (with C. H. Roberts and E. G. Turner) Library, Manchester, 4 (Manchester, 1952), 19-66;

"Autonomous Price Trends in Egypt from Alexander the Great to Heraclius *I," Museum Helveticum*, 10 (1953), 192;

"The Bacchylides Paian in Toronto," Symbolae Osloenses, 30 (1953), 77-81;

"The Wilbour Papyrus," *Historia*, 2 (1953), 129-35;

"New Evidence on the Ebro Treaty," Historia, 3 (1954), 211-19;

"On Ancient Price Trends from the Early First Millennium B.c. to Heraclius *I," Finanzarchiv, 15* (1955), 498-511; "The Toronto Epitome of a Sicilian Historian," *Symbolae Osloenses, 31* (1955), 88-95;

"Römische Sozial- und Wirtschaftsgeschichte," in F. Valjavec, ed., *Historia Mundi, 4* (Berne and Munich, 1956), 397-488;

"Effects of Classical Antiquity on the Land," in W. L. Thomas, Jr., ed., Man's Role in Changing the Face of the Earth (Chicago, 1956), 165-82;

"Man's Role in Changing the Face of the Earth in Classical Antiquity," Kyklos, 9 (1956), 318-55;

"The Historical Date for the Final Memnon Myth," Rheinisches Museum fur Philologie, C (1957), 259-63;

"Pap. Oxy. 2088: A Fragment from Cato's Origines?" Aegyptus, 37 (1957), 250-8;

## B2004-0018

## F. M. Heichelheim fonds

Ca 1922-1968

Access: Open Textual; graphic 3.56 m

"A New Aeschylus Fragment?" Symbolae Osloenses, 34 (1958), 15-18;

"The Early Roman Currency in the Light of Recent Research," (with L. H. Neatby) *Acta Antiqua, 8* (1960), 51-85.

Pauly-Wissowa, Realenzyklopddie der klassischen Altertumswissenschaft (numerous articles about Celtic gods, ancient economic history, etc.), Encyclopaedia of the Social Sciences, Oxford Classical Dictionary, Der Kleine Pauly.